No. 70860-1-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DAVID J. HANSEN, III,

Appellant.



BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SARAH M. HROBSKY Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 13, 2012, David Hansen went to Troy Bodnar's house in response to an advertisement Mr. Bodnar placed on Craigslist for a sexual encounter and to "party," a code word for drug use. 7/2/13(AM)

RP 86-88; 7/2/13(PM) RP 28. They had not met before. 7/2/13(AM) 94. Over the next several hours, they injected methamphetamine and engaged in sex. 7/2/13(AM) RP 89, 92; 7/2/13(PM) RP 32. Mr. Hansen offered to perform additional sexual acts in exchange for money. 7/2/13(AM) RP 93. Mr. Bodnar refused and asked Mr. Hansen to leave. 7/2/13(AM) RP 93, 94. Mr. Bodnar went into the bathroom to dress, but as he came out of the bathroom he was struck on the back of his head and knocked to the floor. 7/2/13(AM) RP 97, 110; 7/2/13(PM) RP 6. According to Mr. Bodnar, Mr. Hansen stated he had a gun and then ran toward the door with Mr. Bodnar's iPad. 7/2/13(AM) RP 103, 110-11; 7/2/13(PM) RP 10. Mr. Bodnar did not see a gun, but he saw Mr. Hansen holding a glass candleholder, which he assumed was used to strike him. 7/2/13(PM) RP 5, 7, 9, 51-52. Mr. Bodnar chased after Mr. Hansen but Mr. Hansen escaped out the back door with the iPad. 7/2/13(PM) RP 9-10.

Mr. Bodnar called 911. 7/2/13(PM) RP 14. He was taken by ambulance to a hospital where he received six stitches and was discharged. 7/2/13(PM) RP 16-17. Back at his house, Officer Wade Jelcick interviewed Mr. Bodnar and took the candleholder into evidence. 7/2/13(PM) RP 19, 57. Mr. Bodnar did not allow Officer Jelcick into his bedroom, purportedly because he was ashamed and he wanted to hide the evidence of drug use. 7/2/13(AM) RP 104; 7/2/13(PM) RP 21, 63. He

also did not report that Mr. Hansen mentioned a gun or that they used drugs. 7/2/13(AM) RP 72-73.

Det. Dale Williams was assigned to investigate the robbery of Mr. Bodnar. 7/2/13(PM) RP 56. A fingerprint lifted from the candleholder matched Mr. Hansen. 7/2/13(PM) RP 58, 80-81, 86. Det. Williams created a photo montage that included Mr. Hansen and showed it to Mr. Bodnar who identified Mr. Hansen as the person who robbed him. 7/2/13(PM) RP 58-59, 61.

Almost eight weeks later, on January 4, 2013, Al Payne invited Josh Jasperson, an acquaintance, to his house where they smoked methamphetamine. 7/3/13 RP 12-13, 14. Mr. Jasperson arranged for Mr. Hansen to join them. 7/3/13 RP 15. Mr. Jasperson knew Mr. Hansen but Mr. Payne had not met him before. 7/3/13 RP 15. Mr. Hansen arrived, smoked methamphetamine, engaged in sex with Mr. Jasperson, and left several hours later. 7/3/13 RP 16-17. Mr. Hansen never discussed money. 7/3/13 RP 17.

The following afternoon, Mr. Hansen allegedly returned to Mr. Payne's house by the back door. 7/3/13 RP 18-20. Mr. Jasperson was still there. 7/3/13 RP 19. At first Mr. Hansen was friendly, but after about 15 minutes, he purportedly pulled a gun from his waistband and said, "This is a robbery." 7/3/13 RP 21-22. He then took their cellular telephones, as

well as Mr. Payne's laptop computer, several watches, and his wallet, and left through the back door. 7/3/13 RP 24-26. Mr. Payne used a borrowed telephone to cancel his credit cards and then took a sleeping aid and went to sleep. 7/3/13 RP 26-28, 50.

Two weeks later, Mr. Payne reported the robbery to police after he read a newspaper report about a robbery at gunpoint following a sexual encounter in a car that matched the description of Mr. Hansen's car. 7/3/13 RP 31-32. He gave the police Mr. Hansen's address and a description of his car. 7/3/13 RP 51. According to Mr. Payne, he also gave the police Mr. Jasperson's e-mail address but he was unable to provide his telephone number because it was stored in his stolen cellular telephone. 7/3/13 RP 34-35.

Det. Michael Magan was assigned to investigate the robbery of Mr. Payne. 7/2/13(AM) RP 6. According to Det. Magan, Mr. Payne would not provide any contact information for Mr. Jasperson or for the person whose telephone he borrowed to cancel his credit cards. 7/2/13(AM) 32-33. Det. Magan created a photo montage that included Mr. Hansen's photo and showed it to Mr. Payne who identified Mr. Hansen as the person who robbed him. 7/2/13(PM) RP 23-24.

Mr. Hansen was charged in a single information with two counts of robbery in the first degree, Count I charging robbery of Mr. Bodnar by

infliction of bodily injury, and Count II charging robbery of Mr. Payne by display of a firearm. CP 1-2. Mr. Hansen moved to sever the count, which was denied. 7/1/13 RP 3-12; CP 19-24. Following a jury trial, Mr. Hansen was convicted as charged. CP 74, 75.

D. ARGUMENT

The trial court erroneously denied Mr. Hansen's motion for severance of the two counts, and thereby allowed admission of confusing, irrelevant, and highly prejudicial evidence, in violation of Mr. Hansen's constitutional right to a fair trial, as well as in violation of CrR 4.4(b).

 A defendant is entitled to severance of counts where joinder prevents a fair determination of guilt or innocence.

A defendant has the constitutional right to due process and a fair trial. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, sec. 3. To this end, separate counts must be severed when joinder would prevent a fair trial.

CrR 4.3 provides, in pertinent part:

- (a) Joinder of Offenses. Two or more offenses may be joined in one charging document, with each offense stated in a separate count, when the offenses, whether felonies or misdemeanors or both:
- (1) Are of the same or similar character, even if not part of a single scheme or plan; or
- (2) Are based on the same conduct or on a series of acts connected together or constituting parts of a single scheme or plan.

However, joinder should never be used in such a way as to deny a defendant a substantial right. *State v. Weddel*, 29 Wn. App. 461, 464, 629 P.2d 912 (1981) (citing *State v. Smith*, 74 Wn.2d 744, 446 P.2d 571 (1968), *vacated on other grounds sub nom. in Smith v. Washington*, 408 U.S. 934, 92 S.Ct. 2852, 33 L.Ed.2d 747 (1972)). Thus, where joinder is technically proper but would result in unfair prejudice, the counts must be severed. *State v. Bryant*, 89 Wn. App. 857, 864, 950 P.2d 1004 (1998); *State v. Gatalski*, 40 Wn. App. 601, 606, 699 P.2d 804 (1985).

CrR 4.4 provides, in pertinent part:

(b) Severance of Offenses. The court, on application of the prosecuting attorney, or on application of the defendant other than under section (a), shall grant a severance of offenses whenever before trial or during trial with consent of the defendant, the court determines that severance will promote a fair determination of the defendant's guilt or innocence of each offense.

CrR 4.4(b) includes the term "shall," which creates a mandatory duty.

State v. Krall, 125 Wn.2d 146, 148, 881 P.2d 1040 (1994). Severance is necessary where it prevents undue prejudice. State v. Bythrow, 114 Wn.2d 713, 717, 790 P.2d 154 (1990). Undue prejudice includes the risk that a single trial invites the jury to cumulate evidence or to infer a guilty disposition. State v. Sanders, 66 Wn. App. 878, 885, 833 P.2d 452 (1992); State v. Watkins, 53 Wn. App. 264, 268, 766 P.2d 484 (1989).

Washington courts have articulated four specific concerns regarding improper joinder: 1) a defendant may be confounded or embarrassed in presenting separate defenses; 2) the jury may use evidence of one crime to improperly infer a defendant's criminal disposition; 3) the jury may cumulate evidence of several crimes to find guilt when, if considered separately, it would not find guilt; and 4) the jury may feel a latent hostility against the defendant engendered by charging several crimes as distinct from a single charge. Smith, 74 Wn.2d at 754-55 (citing Drew v. United States, 331 F.2d 85, 88 (D.C. Cir. 1964)); State v. York, 50 Wn. App. 446, 450-51, 749 P.2d 683 (1988). To assist courts in weighing these concerns, the Supreme Court set forth the following "prejudicemitigating" factors that a court must consider when determining whether the potential for prejudice requires severance: 1) the strength of the State's evidence on each count; 2) the clarity of defenses as to each count; 3) the court's instructions to consider each count separately; and 4) the admissibility of evidence of other charges even if not joined for trial. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 63, 882 P.2d 747 (1994); accord State v. Rodriguez, 163 Wn. App. 215, 228, 259 P.3d 1145 (2011).

A trial court's decision on a motion to sever is reviewed for manifest abuse of discretion. *Bryant*, 89 Wn. App. at 864.

2. Mr. Hansen was entitled to severance of the counts.

The foregoing concerns and the lack of prejudice-mitigating factors mandated severance of the two counts of robbery.

a. Strength of the evidence.

Severance is warranted where the strength of one count bolsters a weaker count. *Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 63-64. Here, the relative strength of Count I improperly bolstered the weaker Count II. To establish Count I, the State relied not only on the credibility of Mr. Bodnar, but also on the testimony of the responding officer and the latent fingerprint examiner. By contrast, to establish Count II, the State relied exclusively on the credibility of Mr. Payne. In both cases, however, the alleged victims were less than forthcoming with the investigating detectives. Mr. Bodnar did not allow Det. Williams into his bedroom, purportedly because he was embarrassed and wanted to hide his drug use. 7/2/13(AM) RP 104; 7/2/13(PM) RP 21, 63. In addition, he also did not report that Mr. Hansen mentioned a gun or that they used drugs, details that seem improbable a victim would forget. 7/2/13(AM) RP 72-73.

Mr. Payne was similarly reticent with Det. Magan. He did not report the incident for several weeks, and when he did make a report, he withheld contact information for two witnesses who could corroborate his account. 7/2/13(AM) RP 32-33.

In light of the comparative weakness of the evidence to establish

Count II and the failure to be by both alleged victims, joinder invited the
jury to cumulate the evidence and to infer criminal disposition, rather than
to look closely at the lack of evidence as to Count II and lack of credibility
of the individual alleged victims.

b. Clarity of defenses.

A defendant's desire to testify on one count but not on another count requires severance where the defendant has important testimony to give on the one count and a strong need to remain silent on the other count. *Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 65 (citing *Watkins*, 53 Wn. App. at 270). Here, prior to trial, Mr. Hansen indicated that he had separate defense theories for the two counts; for Count I, his defense was self-defense, whereas for Count II, his defense was general denial. CP 22. He noted that to present evidence of self-defense as to Count I, he needed to take the stand and thereby expose himself to impeachment with his prior convictions. On the other hand, he did not need to give up his right to remain silent to present his defense of denial as to Count II. 7/1/13 RP 5-6, 12. Therefore, the jury was needlessly and prejudicially informed of Mr. Hansen's prior convictions as to Count II.

The trial court mistakenly relied on *Weddel*, which is distinguishable from the present case. 7/1/13 RP 12. In *Weddel*, the

defendant was seen under suspicious circumstances on one victim's property, but there was no evidence of an attempted entry. 29 Wn. App. at 462-63. The following day, the defendant was seen approximately one mile away from the first location leaving the another victim's property which had been burglarized. Id. at 463. Based on the two incidents, the defendant was charged with attempted burglary and burglary, and the charges were joined for trial. Id. at 463-64. At trial, the defendant presented alibi witnesses for the burglary charge but no evidence for the attempted burglary charge. Id. at 464. Following a jury trial, the defendant was convicted of burglary and acquitted of attempted burglary. Id. On appeal, the defendant contended joinder was unduly prejudicial because, inter alia, it frustrated his desire to testify concerning the burglary charge but to remain silent concerning the attempted burglary charge. Id. at 465. The court disagreed, and noted a defendant's desire to testify only to one count is insufficient to require severance unless the defendant makes a "convincing showing to the trial court that he has both important testimony to give concerning one count and a strong need to refrain from testifying about the other." Id. at 468 (citing United States v. Jardan, 552 F.2d 216 (8th Cir. 1997) and Baker v. United States, 401 F.2d 958 (D.C. Cir. 1968)). Because the defendant did not make the requisite

showing to the trial court and he presented three witnesses to support his alibi defense, the court ruled the joinder was not an abuse of discretion.

By contrast, here, unlike the defendant in *Weddel*, Mr. Hansen did not have witnesses to support his defense of self-defense as to Count I.

Moreover, he did make the requisite "convincing showing" of prejudice, in that the jury would learn of his prior convictions if he testified, even if his testimony pertained only to Count I.

c. Instructions.

Although the court properly instructed the jury to consider each count separately, instructions alone could not overcome the improper bolstering resulting from joinder, the confusion of defenses, the prejudice resulting from his need to testify to present his defense theory on Count I and his equally compelling need to remain silent on Count II, and the admission of evidence that was not otherwise cross-admissible.

d. Cross-admissibility of evidence.

Cross-admissibility of evidence is analyzed under ER 404(b). *Gatalski*, 40 Wn. App. at 607; *York*, 50 Wn. App. at 453. ER 404(b) provides:

(b) Other Crimes, Wrongs, or Acts. Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent,

preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

In determining whether evidence is admissible under ER 404(b), courts must "(1) identify the purpose for which the evidence is to be admitted; (2) determine that the evidence is relevant and of consequence to the outcome; and (3) balance the probative value of the evidence against its potential prejudicial effect." *State v. Lough*, 70 Wn. App. 302, 313, 853 P.2d 920 (1993) (citing *State v. Smith*, 106 Wn.2d 772, 776, 725 P.2d 951 (1986)).

Without any analysis, the court found the two counts were "likely cross-admissible," noting "Mr. Payne has a significant delay in reporting, explained by reading about the defendant's other case that happened a couple months later." 7/1/13 RP 13. This is unsupported by the record. Mr. Payne contacted police two weeks after the incident, not "a couple of months later." 7/3/13/RP 29. Moreover, Mr. Payne never explained why he did not report the incident promptly. Rather, he explained why he eventually reported, that is, he read an article about a robbery at gunpoint in a car that matched the description of Mr. Hansen's car. 7/3/13 RP 31. Plainly, the article Mr. Payne read was not about the incident at Mr. Bodnar's house.

Further, under ER 404(b), the evidence for the two counts was not cross-admissible. In Count I, the State alleged Mr. Hansen robbed Mr. Bodnar by infliction of bodily injury with a candleholder, after Mr. Hansen responded to Mr. Bodnar's on-line advertisement to engage and sex and drug use. CP 1; 7/2/13(AM) RP 86-88, 89, 92, 97, 110; 7/2/13(PM) RP 5-7, 9, 51-52. By contrast, in Count II, almost eight weeks later, the State alleged Mr. Hansen robbed Mr. Payne by display of a firearm, one day after Mr. Hansen was invited to Mr. Payne's house by a third party where he engaged in sex and drug use, and left without incident. CP 1-2; 7/3/13 RP 12-13, 14-15, 16-17, 21-22. Although both incidents involved a sexual encounter and methamphetamine use, those details are not so unique at to overcome the other dissimilarities between the incidents and the inherent prejudice of joining otherwise unrelated charges.

In *State v. Hernandez*, the defendant was convicted of three counts of robbery, based on separate incidents that occurred in a ten day period of time, in which the robber entered a store, displayed a gun, asked for money, and fled upon receiving the money. 58 Wn. App. 793, 799, 794 P.2d 1327 (1990), *disapproved on other grounds in State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d 93, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). On appeal, the State argued the counts were properly joined because the evidence of all three incidents would

have been cross-admissible at separate trials to establish identify. 58 Wn. App. at 798. The appellate court disagreed and ruled that, although the stores that were robbed were similar in nature, the manner of robbery was not so unique as to create a high probability that the same person committed all three crimes. 58 Wn. App. at 799. *See also State v. Harris*, 36 Wn. App. 746, 750, 677 P.2d 202 (1984) ("Here, despite an instruction to consider the counts separately, ... the prejudice-mitigating factor that evidence of each rape would be admissible in a separate trial for the other, is glaringly absent. This being so, there is a clear violation of the rule prohibiting use of evidence of other crimes or misconduct in order to convict.").

Similarly here, there was no showing that the robberies were committed in a particularly unique manner to justify cross-admissibility and the court's finding to the contrary is unsupported by the record.

3. The prejudice of joinder outweighed the need for judicial economy.

The interest in judicial economy is served where testimony would be repeated in separate trials. For example, in *Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 68, the court noted that judicial economy was served by joiner where the crimes were uniquely similar and the testimony of witnesses acquainted with the defendant during the time of the crimes would be repeated if

counts were severed. *See also York*, 50 Wn. App. at 453 (multiple offenses that occurred on school campus involved testimony of school's physical layout and schedule, and contact between the defendant an victims which would be repeated if counts were severed).

Here, the testimony for Count I would not need to be repeated at a separate trial for Count II. The incidents occurred in separate locations, involved separate alleged victims, and were alleged to have been committed by separate means. The manner in which Mr. Hansen met Mr. Bodnar was markedly different than the manner in which he was introduced to Mr. Payne. The incidents were separately investigated, the only overlap occurring when the two detectives went together to Mr. Hansen's address in an unsuccessful attempt to arrest him. Under these circumstances, joinder of the two counts did not promote judicial economy.

4. The proper remedy is reversal.

Where a trial court erroneously denies a motion to sever, the proper remedy is reversal, unless the error was harmless. *Bryant*, 89 Wn. App. at 864; *State v. Ramirez*, 46 Wn. App. 223, 228, 730 P.2d 98 (1986). The error was not harmless here. As discussed, given the disparate relative strength between the count, the differing defense theories, the lack of factual similarity in the counts, the inherent prejudice of joining two

unrelated charges, and the difficulty in compartmentalizing the evidence relevant to each count, the error was not harmless. In the absence of prejudice-mitigating factors as well as the lack of judicial economy, the trial court's failure to sever the counts was an abuse of discretion.

Reversal is required.

E. CONCLUSION

The trial court abused its discretion in denying Mr. Hansen's motion to sever the counts. For the foregoing arguments, Mr. Hansen requests this court reverse his convictions and remand for severance and separate new trials.