NO. 70860-1-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

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

## C. ARGUMENT

The State presented two cases of comparable evidentiary strength on each count of first-degree robbery. The defendant could not convincingly show why separate trials were necessary to facilitate his defenses. The court instructed the jury to consider the counts individually and evidence of intent and a common plan was cross-admissible. Given the absence of any specific prejudice to the defendant's rights, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the defendant's motion to sever.

Joinder of offenses is governed by CrR 4.3 and RCW 10.37.060. The rule and the statute are consistent. State v. Thompson, 88 Wn.2d 518, 525, 564 P.2d 315 (1977). RCW 10.37.060 provides:

When there are several charges against any person . . . for the same act or transaction, or for two or more acts or transactions connected together . . . which may be properly joined, instead of having several indictments or informations the whole may be joined in one indictment, or information, in separate counts; and, if two or more indictments are found, or two or more informations filed, in such cases, the court may order such indictments or information to be consolidated.

Similarly, CrR 4.3(a) provides in part:

<u>Joinder of Offenses</u>. Two or more offenses may be joined in one charging document, with each offense stated in a separate count, when the offenses:

- (1) Are of the same or similar character, even if not part of a single scheme or plan; or
- (2) Are based upon the same conduct or on a series of acts connected together or constituting part of a single scheme or plan.

Washington courts have consistently treated Rule 4.3 as a liberal joinder rule which gives the trial court broad discretion. Thompson, 88 Wn.2d at 525; accord State v. Robinson, 38 Wn. App. 871, 881, 691 P.2d 213 (1984); see also State v. Bythrow, 114 Wn.2d 713, 717, 790 P.2d 154 (1990) (trial court refusal to sever counts "is reversible only upon a showing that the court's decision was a manifest abuse of discretion). A broad joinder rule comports with the "important public policy of conserving judicial and prosecutorial resources." State v. Heintz, 32 Wn. App. 186, 189, 647 P.2d 39 (1982); see Bythrow, 114 Wn.2d at 722 (Defendant seeking severance must not only show prejudicial effects of joinder, "but they must also demonstrate that a joint trial would be so prejudicial as to outweigh concern for judicial economy.").

CrR 4.4(b) requires severance of charges upon a motion by the defendant if the trial court determines that such action "will promote a fair determination of the defendant's guilt or innocence of each offense." To prevail, the defendant bears the burden of showing that joinder is so prejudicial that it outweighs the need for judicial economy. State v. Williams, 156 Wn. App. 482, 500, 234 P.3d 1174 (2010). Moreover, on appeal, the defendant must point to specific prejudice in the record to support a finding that the trial court's refusal to sever was an abuse of discretion. Bythrow, 114 Wn.2d at 720.

In scrutinizing the joinder of offenses for signs of prejudice, courts examine several factors, including: 1) the strength of the State's evidence on each count; 2) the clarity of defenses to each count; 3) the court's instruction to the jury to consider the counts separately; and 4) the cross-admissibility of the evidence. Williams, 156 Wn. App. at 501. No one factor is considered preeminent; "all must be assessed in determining whether potential prejudice requires severance." State v. Warren, 55 Wn. App. 645, 655, 779 P.2d 1159 (1989).

Even where the trial court errs in denying a motion to sever, the defendant is not entitled to a reversal of his or her convictions if the error was harmless. <u>State v. Bryant</u>, 89 Wn. App. 857, 864, 950 P.2d 1004 (1998). A trial court's denial of a motion to sever is reviewed for manifest abuse of discretion. <u>State v. Russell</u>, 125 Wn.2d 24, 63, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). The trial court manifestly abuses its discretion only if it makes an untenable or unreasonable decision. <u>State v. Yuen</u>, 23 Wn. App. 377, 380, 597 P.2d 401 (1979).

Here, analysis of the relevant factors strongly weighs in favor of the conclusion that Hansen was not prejudiced by joinder of the offenses. Hansen has failed to show that any of his arguments have sufficient merit to outweigh the need for judicial economy. Hansen's claim that the trial court abused its discretion by failing to sever the counts against him should be rejected.

In complaining of undue prejudice, Hansen attempts to avail himself of the multi-factor test elaborated above to argue that severance of the counts under CrR 4.4(b) was justified. However, none of the test's attendant inquiries can be resolved so as to allow this court to hold that Hansen has met his burden of demonstrating specific prejudice.

Severance may be appropriate when the State has joined offenses and "one case is remarkably stronger than the other."

State v. MacDonald, 122 Wn. App. 804, 815, 95 P.3d 1248 (2004). Hansen submits that, in the present matter, "the relative strength of Count I improperly bolstered the weaker Count II." App. Br. at 8. To that end, he notes that the State supplemented the testimony of Troy Bodnar on Count I with that of a latent fingerprint examiner and two responding officers, while Count II was sustained by the credibility of Al Payne alone. App. Br. at 8.

Hansen overstates the significance of the testimony in question and fails to account for substantial similarities in the State's presentation of evidence. For instance, latent print examiner Aleah Cole testified for the State and informed the jury that two of the four comparable latent prints recovered from the glass candleholder at Bodnar's residence could be traced to Hansen. 7/2/13 PM RP 80, 86. Yet, this testimony was hardly an inculpatory "smoking gun" that made the strength of Count II pale in comparison. Bodnar revealed that he never saw Hansen grab a hold of the candleholder, nor did he ever see him carrying it in his hands prior to or after the assault. 7/2/13 PM RP 8-9, 37. In truth, Bodnar only assumed that he had been struck by the candleholder because it was found out of place in the wake of the robbery.

to link Bodnar's injuries to the candleholder, and Hansen's own attorney indicated the lack of any blood on the object. 7/3/13 RP 119. Thus, while Cole's testimony may have been useful in establishing that Hansen was in Bodnar's house on the night of the incident, it was by no means incontrovertible proof of the robbery.

The State also called Officers Wade Jelcick and Elizabeth Consalvi. 7/2/13 AM RP 40-50, 51-78. Consalvi indicated that other than photographing Bodnar and the residence, she did not take any witness statements and was not tasked with collecting evidence. 7/2/13 AM RP 49. Meanwhile, Jelcick's testimony actually proved helpful to Hansen's defense in Count I insofar as it allowed Hansen to assail Bodnar's credibility by framing him as generally evasive and uncooperative. 7/2/13 AM RP 69, 77-78.

The lynchpin of the State's case on either count, then, was the testimony of Bodnar and Payne, who recounted their victimization at length and in compelling detail. 7/2/13 AM RP 79-112; 7/2/13 PM RP 5-55; 7/3/13 RP 8-68. Both implicated Hansen as the perpetrator of the respective robbery committed against them, and neither previously had any difficulty selecting him from a photo montage to corroborate their narrative of events. Because there was insignificant additional evidence to cumulate

between Counts I and II in the State's favor, the jury evaluated Bodnar and Payne's testimony separately. In doing so, it made credibility determinations and concluded that Bodnar and Payne were independently credible enough to establish Hansen's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

A defendant's desire to testify only as to some – but not all – of the counts charged is insufficient reason to require severance.

State v. Weddel<sup>1</sup>, 29 Wn. App. 461, 467, 629 P.2d 912 (1981).

Severance may be required, "only if a defendant makes a convincing showing that [he or she] has important testimony to give concerning one count and a strong need to refrain from testifying about another." State v. Watkins, 53 Wn. App. 264, 270, 766 P.2d 484 (1989).

Here, Hansen argues that his intention to assert self-defense in the context of Count I and a general denial on Count II sufficed to meet this standard, largely because the jury might have learned of his prior convictions even if had he only testified as to Count I.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Hansen submits that the "trial court mistakenly relied on <u>Weddel</u>," and attempts to distinguish the case from the record before this court. App. Br. at 9-11. Ultimately, such an effort is inconsequential. While the State concedes that <u>Weddel</u> may not be factually similar in every respect, the trial court invoked the decision for the sound legal principles it articulates, not to apply it by analogy.

App. Br. at 11. This claim is unpersuasive and should be dismissed on several grounds.

First, Hansen misstates his burden. He alleges that, having expressed his concern about possibly being impeached on the stand with prior convictions, the "requisite 'convincing showing' of prejudice" was made.<sup>2</sup> App. Br. at 11. The correct standard does not merely call for speculation about the adverse consequences of testifying in a joint trial. Instead, the "convincing showing" requirement entails an obligation to elaborate the important testimony Hansen would have had to give regarding his self-defense claim on Count I, as well as to adequately explain why his silence was warranted on Count II. Watkins, 53 Wn. App. at 270.

Second, Hansen falls short of satisfying the first prong of this test. In <u>Weddel</u>, the court looked to the federal evidentiary equivalent<sup>3</sup> of CrR 4.4 and accompanying case law to hold that the defendant must "present enough information" regarding the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Impeachment by prior convictions stemming from testimony in a joint trial was expressly rejected as prejudicial in <u>Weddel</u>: "[W]e conclude that the overriding reason why [the] defendant chose not to testify was...his realization that the State would use a prior burglary conviction for impeachment. Therefore, his...final argument concerning prejudice caused by joinder of counts is without merit." 29 Wn. App. at 468.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> FRCP 14.

testimony of the count he or she wishes to take the stand on for the court to intelligently evaluate the severance motion. 29 Wn. App. at 468 (citing Baker v. United States, 401 F.2d 958, 977 (D.C. Cir. 1968)). More recent decisions have affirmed that the defendant must disclose with particularity why such testimony should be deemed "important." See e.g. United States v. Alexander, 135 F.3d 470, 477 (7th Cir. 1998) ("[G]eneral assertions...are insufficient to establish prejudice; we have required specific examples of the exculpatory testimony that the defendant would give"); United States v. Fenton, 367 F.3d 14, 22 (1st Cir. 2004) (Denial of severance motion affirmed where defendant "offered no hint as to the specific information that his testimony would convey").

Before the trial court, Hansen provided little more than a cursory recital as to the nature of his proposed self-defense testimony on Count I. 7/1/13 RP 11-12. At no point did he come to explain how he might have been provoked into using force against Bodnar, nor did he stipulate that he ever felt his personal safety was threatened. There is no basis for this court to derive the substance and weigh the importance of the testimony Hansen intended to present. Accordingly, Hansen has failed to make a

"convincing showing" that severance was imperative to facilitate his separate defenses.

Prior to closing arguments, the trial court instructed the jury in preparation for its deliberation. 7/3/13 RP 89-100. The instructions included the following admonition, taken verbatim from the relevant Washington pattern jury instruction: "A separate crime is charged in each count. You must decide each count separately. Your verdict on one count should not control your verdict on the other count." 7/3/13 RP 94; WPIC 3.01. Jurors are presumed to follow the trial court's instructions, absent evidence to the contrary. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 928, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). Here, no such evidence is facially apparent. The instruction was proper and this court should adhere to the presumption that the jury took heed of its substance.

Under ER 404(b), evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is admissible to prove "motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident."

In this case, the common plan or scheme provision of ER 404(b) informs the cross-admissibility analysis. This type of misconduct, "arises when an individual devises a plan and uses it repeatedly to

perpetrate separate but very similar crimes." State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 855, 889 P.2d 847 (1995).

Before admitting ER 404(b) evidence, the trial court must first 1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the misconduct actually occurred; 2) identify the purpose for which the evidence is sought to be introduced; 3) determine whether the evidence is relevant to prove an element of the crime charged; and 4) weigh the probative value of the evidence against its prejudicial effect.

Lough, 125 Wn.2d at 853. Severance is not mandated simply because evidence of one count is shown to be inadmissible in a separate trial on the other count. Bythrow, 114 Wn.2d at 720.

Here, the court briefly engaged in the requisite analysis.

It remarked in passing that the two counts were "likely" cross-admissible, as evidenced by the fact that Payne only reported he had been robbed after reading about an incident akin to the earlier Bodnar robbery. 7/1/13 RP 13. However, the court's failure to conduct a meaningful ER 404(b) inquiry was harmless because Hansen would not have been able to prevail in challenging cross-admissibility had separate trials been granted.

First, assuming that the State elected to prosecute Hansen for the Payne robbery prior to the Bodnar case, it would have easily

been able to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that Hansen committed the earlier offense against Bodnar. The scope, detail, and credibility of Bodnar's testimony alone would have been enough to demonstrate at an evidentiary hearing that the crime (more likely than not) took place.

Second, evidence of the Bodnar robbery would have been offered for a legitimate purpose. Rather than impermissibly pointing to a criminal propensity, the fact that Hansen robbed Bodnar could be intended to show that he also later robbed Payne pursuant to the same overarching scheme. In discerning the existence of a common plan, courts have insisted that "the similarity [between acts] must be clearly more than coincidental; it must indicate conduct created by design." State v. Sexsmith, 138 Wn. App. 497, 505, 157 P.3d 901 (2007). The record in this case suggests that Hansen deliberately targeted educated, middle-aged gay men who were part of the same social circle. 7/2/13 AM RP 81; 7/2/13 PM RP 25; 7/3/13 RP 9-10. Methamphetamine use and consensual sex were invariably a precursor to the criminal conduct. 7/2/13 AM RP 92; 7/2/13 PM RP 32; 7/3/13 RP 15-16. And the robberies were separated by less than two months. 7/2/13 AM RP 86: 7/3/13 RP 12. There can be little doubt that Bodnar

and Payne were victims of the same criminal plan, not offenses perpetrated in isolation.

Hansen relies on <u>State v. Hernandez</u> for the proposition that – as in that case – the robberies here were "[not] committed in a particularly unique manner to justify cross-admissibility."

58 Wn. App. 793, 794 P.2d 1327 (1990); App. Br. at 14. But the court in <u>Hernandez</u> was essentially preoccupied with the modus operandi of the charged crimes – a distinction that goes to establishing "identity" under ER 404(b), <u>not</u> a common plan.

58 Wn. App. at 798. As this court has explained elsewhere:

[E]vidence of unique modus operandi is relevant when the focus of the inquiry is the identity of the perpetrator. In contrast, the common plan or scheme exception is generally used when the occurrence of the crime or intent are at issue, not when identity is the issue.

State v. Yarbrough, 151 Wn. App. 66, 88, 210 P.3d 1029 (2009) (citations and attribution marks omitted). Furthermore, proving a common plan under ER 404(b) requires a lower level of similarity between acts than that required to show identity through modus operandi. State v. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d 168, 179, 163 P.3d 786 (2007).

Unlike in <u>Hernandez</u>, where the culprit behind the series of robberies was the primary source of contention, the evidence here inexorably leads to Hansen as the only possible suspect in the crimes committed. As Hansen's attorney made clear in her closing argument, the pivotal issue at trial was whether the robberies transpired as the State alleged. 7/3/13 RP 115. ER 404(b)'s common plan provision is amenable to addressing that question; the Hernandez decision is not, and should be disregarded.

Third, evidence of the Bodnar robbery would have been relevant to the prosecution of the crime against Payne. ER 401 defines "relevant evidence" as that which has the "tendency to make the existence of any fact... of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable" than it would be without it. Where, as in this case, the existence of a common plan "makes it more probable that the [act] occurred as charged," ER 404(b) evidence is relevant. State v. York, 50 Wn. App. 446, 457, 749 P.2d 683 (1987). Also, to the extent Hansen argued at trial that Payne's credibility cast doubt on the State's account of the incident, his earlier and closely similar robbery of Bodnar undercuts the strength of such a defense.

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